No. 20-1025

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SPECIALIZED LOAN SERVICING LLC,

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1. The Circuit Court erred in denying SLS's Motion for Summary Judgment and in granting the Stovers' Motion for Summary Judgment as the limited definition of "consumer loan" set forth in both the pre-2016 and post-2016 versions of W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(b) does not apply to W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(c) and, therefore, does not limit the exception allowing for the return of partial payments during the reinstatement period set forth in W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(c).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Factual History

The facts relevant to this action are undisputed and were largely stipulated to in the below action. Ronald J. Stover and Patti A. Stover (hereinafter "Respondents" or the "Stovers") purchased the property located at 3989 Clear Fork Road, Clear Fork, West Virginia ("Property") on or about October 27, 2000, by obtaining a mortgage loan secured by a deed of trust on the Property ("Loan"). (J.A. 338). The Loan was originated by an entity that is not a bank or savings and loan association or affiliate, is held by private trust, and is not insured by a government-sponsored enterprise. (J.A. 406; J.A. 359; J.A. 338). On December 19, 2014, SLS sent the Stovers a "Notice of Default and Notice of Intent to Foreclose," as the Loan was in default beginning with the November 1, 2014 payment. (J.A. 339). The Stovers were given thirty-three (33) days from the date of the letter—until January 21, 2015—to cure the arrears, which at that time were in the amount of \$1,734.67. (*Id.*). At that point, and as made clear in SLS's letter, SLS would only accept a payment in the full amount to reinstate the Loan. However, the Stovers failed to cure the default. (*Id.*).

On May 14, 2015, Seneca Trustees sent a notice of foreclosure to the Stovers, initiating the reinstatement period outlined in—and authorized by—the Deed of Trust. (J.A. 382). Twelve days later, on or about May 26, 2015, Angie Raines (now Angie Stover) sent SLS a partial reinstatement payment in the amount of \$556.27. (J.A. 340). In a letter dated June 4, 2015, SLS returned the check and explained that it was unable to accept the payment because it was for less than the total reinstatement amount due. (*Id.*). SLS additionally enclosed an updated reinstatement quote in the amount of \$4,371.98. the Stovers sent additional partial payments by MoneyGram on March 17, 2017 and by check on April 3, 2017. (J.A. 342). SLS returned each payment with the same explanation and new reinstatement quotes. (*Id.*).

2. Procedural History

Respondents filed the below civil action on August 18, 2015 in the Circuit Court of Raleigh County, West Virginia alleging several claims arising out of the servicing of their home mortgage loan. (J.A. 2). The Action alleged misrepresentations and unconscionable conduct (Count I), failure to credit payments (Count II), failure to provide a statement of account (Count III), and contacts after notice of attorney representation (Count IV). (J.A. 2-7). Both parties moved for summary judgment with respect to all remaining counts. (J.A. 16; J.A. 324). After the filing of SLS's Motion for Summary Judgment, the Court ordered the Parties to submit joint stipulated facts prior to issuing a ruling on the merits. (J.A. 322-323).

On August 2, 2019, the Court granted in part and refused in part SLS's Motion for Summary Judgment and refused the Stovers' Motion for Summary Judgment. (J.A. 345-357). After the Circuit Court's August 2, 2019 ruling, all claims had either been voluntarily dismissed by the Stovers or dismissed with the granting of SLS's Motion for Summary Judgment except for the Stovers' cause of action alleging SLS unlawfully failed to credit the 2015 and 2017 partial payments in violation of W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(c) ("Count II"). (*Id.*). Within its August 2, 2019 Order, the Circuit Court held it did not have the information necessary to rule on Count II at that time. (*Id.*)

After the parties submitted additional stipulated facts and further briefing, the Court denied SLS's Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment and granted the Stovers' Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment with respect to Count II. The Circuit Court's ruling on Count II resulted from a misinterpretation of W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(c). (J.A. 467-473). There were two versions of this statute at issue, as the statute was amended in 2016 and the rejected partial

¹ Respondents withdrew Count III of the Complaint at a hearing on June 7, 2017. (J.A. 357).

payments occurred in 2015 and 2017. The general rule, which remained relatively unchanged in both versions of the statute, is that payments to a creditor for "any consumer credit sale or consumer loan shall be credited upon receipt against payment due." The exception in both versions of subsection (c) provides that partial payments received during the reinstatement period outlined within subsection (b) "may be returned by the creditor". Each version of the statute, both before and after the 2016 amendment, include a limited definition of "consumer loan" in subsection (b), which SLS argued and maintains should not apply to the exception in subsection (c). SLS proffers that both versions of W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(c) incorporate only the "reinstatement period" definition from subsection (b) and the "consumer loans" and "consumer credit sales" referenced in subsection (c) are defined in the general definitions section contained in W. Va. Code § 46A-1-102 of the West Virginia Consumer Credit and Protection Act ("WVCCPA"). However, the Circuit Court, in denying SLS's Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment with respect to Count II and granting the Stovers' Supplemental Motion, held that the limited definition of "consumer loan" from subsection (b) applied to the subsection (c) exception, and since the Loan did not meet the limited "consumer loan" definition within subsection (b), SLS violated W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(c) by refusing to accept the Stovers' partial payments. (J.A. 467-473).

On appeal, SLS seeks reversal of the Circuit Court's denial of its Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment with respect to Count II of the Complaint and the Circuit Court's granting of the Stovers' Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment with respect to Count II of the Complaint. Therefore, SLS filed the instant appeal of the Circuit Court's final judgment.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In the action below, the Circuit Court was tasked with determining whether SLS properly rejected partial payments under the exception found in W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(c). The subsection (c) exception defines both *what* transactions are at issue as well as *when* a partial

payment may be rejected. The general rule of W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(c) outlines that the subsection concerns "any consumer credit sale or consumer loan...". Both "consumer credit sale and "consumer loan" are specifically defined within W. Va. Code § 46A-1-102(13); W. Va. Code § 46A-1-102(15). In both versions of subsection (c) operative to the appeal at bar, a partial payment may be rejected during the "reinstatement period". In that, "reinstatement period" is not specifically defined within W. Va. Code § 46A-1-102, nor at any point prior to W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115, the drafters chose to limit the time period when a partial payment may be rejected by incorporating the definition of "reinstatement period" set forth in W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(b).

Subsection (b) concerns the recovery of reasonable fees for certain consumer loans and has its own definitions of *what* loans qualify and *when* an expense must be incurred to be considered recoverable. Notably, subsection (b) specifically defines what constitutes a "consumer loan" for this subsection. Under subsection (b), consumer loans are "secured by real property ... [o]riginated by a bank or savings and loan association, or an affiliate, not solicited by an unaffiliated broker," as well as loans held or insured by certain federal and state entities. For when a fee may be incurred and be recoverable, both versions of subsection (b) have a specific definition for the reinstatement period.

While subsection (b) and subsection (c) concern the same reinstatement period due to subsection (c)'s specific incorporation of that time period, the subsections have differing definitions for *what* transactions are governed by that subsection. When drafting subsection (b), the drafters clearly intended to limit what constitutes a "consumer loan" beyond the definition contained in W. Va. Code § 46A-1-102(15) by including a revised and narrowed definition. Instead of continuing this limitation through subsection (c), subsection (c) simply states that "any consumer credit sale or consumer loan" are subject to subsection (c). The decision to refrain from

explicit reference to subsection (b) is a clear indication that the Legislature intended for the definitions of "consumer loan" and "consumer credit sale", as set forth in W. Va. Code § 46A-1-102, to apply to subsection (c). Following the 2016 amendment, the language of subsection (b) even more clearly shows that the limited consumer loan definition merely applies to subsection (b) with the inclusion of language at the beginning of the subsection stating the definitions within are "[w]ith respect to this subsection". The Circuit Court erred in denying SLS's Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment and in granting the Stovers' Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment with respect to Count II because the Court improperly incorporated subsection (b)'s limited definition into subsection (c). As the definitions for "consumer loan" and "consumer credit sale" from W. Va. Code § 46A-1-102 apply to subsection (c) the Circuit Court improperly limited the applicability of subsection (c) inconsistent with the legislative intent and plain language of the subsection. When read with the definitions from W. Va. Code § 46A-1-102 in mind, it is clear SLS properly rejected the partial payments under the exception found in subsection (c). Therefore, this Court should reverse the Circuit Court's final judgment.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

SLS states that oral argument is necessary pursuant to the criteria in Rule 18(a). Further, SLS contends that this case is appropriate for Rule 19 argument because it concerns a narrow issue of law. Finally, SLS states that this case is appropriate for a memorandum decision.

ARGUMENT

1. Standard of Review

"Interpreting a statute or an administrative rule or regulation presents a purely legal question subject to *de novo* review." Syl. Pt. 1, *Appalachian Power Co. v. State Tax Dep't of W. Virginia*, 195 W. Va. 573, 578, 466 S.E.2d 424, 429 (1995); Syl. Pt. 1, *Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L.*, 194 W. Va. 138, 139, 459 S.E.2d 415, 416 (1995) ("Where the issue on an appeal from the

circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a *de novo* standard of review."). Therefore, "as with [the Court's] review of a circuit court's decision of a question of law, [the Court] also review[s] anew a circuit court's award of summary judgment. *Alan Enterprizes LLC v. Mac's Convenience Stores LLC*, 240 W. Va. 250, 253, 810 S.E.2d 61, 64 (2018) (citing Syl. Pt. 1, *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W. Va. 189, 190, 451 S.E.2d 755, 756 (1994) ("A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo.").

2. The plain language of W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115 indicates SLS's rejections of the Stovers' partial payments were proper and that SLS met its burden at the summary judgment stage.

Respondents brought Count II of the Complaint for an alleged failure to credit payments based on SLS's returning of the partial reinstatement payments made on or about May 26, 2015, as well as the partial payments attempted by MoneyGram on March 17, 2017 and by check on April 3, 2017, in alleged violation of W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115. (J.A. 3; J.A. 133). However, SLS's actions were permissible based on the 2015 and 2017 versions of W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115 as in effect at the time of the attempted partial repayments.

When interpreting a statute, "[i]f the statutory language is plain and does not lend itself to multiple constructions, the statute's plain language must be applied as it is written." *Tribeca Lending Corp. v. McCormick*, 231 W. Va. 455, 460, 745 S.E.2d 493, 498 (2013). The 2015 version of W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(c) stated the following:

All amounts paid to a creditor arising out of any consumer credit sale or consumer loan shall be credited upon receipt against payments due: *Provided*, That amounts received and applied during a cure period will not result in a duty to provide a new notice of right to cure; and provided further that partial amounts received during the reinstatement period set forth in subsection (b) of this section do not create an automatic duty to reinstate and may be returned by the creditor. Default charges shall be accounted for separately; those set forth in subsection (b) arising during such a reinstatement period may be added to principal.

Important here is the specific exclusion from the general requirement of a creditor to credit partial payments during the reinstatement period "do not create an automatic duty to reinstate and *may be returned by the creditor*." (*Id.*) (emphasis added). The general rule remained the same following the 2016 amendment and the exception contained nearly identical in language. The amendment only changed the reinstatement period's location in "subsection (b)" to a more specific and demarcated "subdivision (3) subsection (b)." The most substantial change in the 2016 amendment was the redefining of the reinstatement period. As outlined below, upon review of the clear language of the W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(c) exception, it is apparent SLS properly rejected the Stovers' partial payments as the Loan is a "consumer loan" and because the partial payment attempts came during the reinstatement period from subsection (b) as incorporated into subsection (c).

a. The Loan qualifies under the categories contemplated by subsection (c) as defined in W. Va. Code § 46A-1-102.

W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(c), as applicable in 2015, stated as a general rule that "[a]ll amounts paid to a creditor arising out of any consumer credit sale or consumer loan shall be credited upon receipt against payments due". Following the Statute's amendment, the language of W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(c) was slightly restructured to state that "[a]ll payments made to a creditor in accordance with the terms of any consumer credit sale or consumer loan shall be credited upon receipt against payments due". The exception also found within W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(c) under both versions, however, provides that partial payments received during the "reinstatement period" as defined in subsection (b) "do not create an automatic duty to reinstate and *may be returned by the creditor*." (emphasis added). The plain language of W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(c) indicates the broad scope of the applicability of this subsection. Within subsection (c), the drafters chose to state that the subsection concerns "any consumer credit sale or consumer

loan". These terms are specifically defined in W. Va. Code § 46A-1-102, the "general definitions" section of the WVCCPA, as follows:

- (13)(a) Except as provided in paragraph (b), "consumer credit sale" is a sale of goods, services or an interest in land in which:
 - (i) Credit is granted either by a seller who regularly engages as a seller in credit transactions of the same kind or pursuant to a seller credit card;
 - (ii) The buyer is a person other than an organization;
 - (iii) The goods, services or interest in land are purchased primarily for a personal, family, household or agricultural purpose;
 - (iv) Either the debt is payable in installments or a sales finance charge is made; and
 - (v) With respect to a sale of goods or services, the amount financed does not exceed forty-five thousand dollars or the sale is of a factory-built home as defined in section two, article fifteen, chapter thirty-seven of this code.
 - (b) "Consumer credit sale" does not include a sale in which the seller allows the buyer to purchase goods or services pursuant to a lender credit card or similar arrangement...
- (15) "Consumer loan" is a loan made by a person regularly engaged in the business of making loans in which:
 - (a) The debtor is a person other than an organization;
 - (b) The debt is incurred primarily for a personal, family, household or agricultural purpose;
 - (c) Either the debt is payable in installments or a loan finance charge is made; and
 - (d) Either the principal does not exceed forty-five thousand dollars or the debt is secured by an interest in land or a factory-built home as defined in section two, article fifteen, chapter thirty-seven of this code.

W. Va. Code § 46A-1-102(13); W. Va. Code § 46A-1-102(15). Here, the Loan was a mortgage loan secured by a deed of trust on the Property, thereby clearly falling within W. Va. Code § 46A-1-102's definition of "consumer loan". (J.A. 338). As this was a consumer loan under W. Va. Code § 46A-1-102, the exception to subsection (c) applies. As such, SLS properly rejected the partial payments from the Stovers as the Loan qualified as a "consumer loan" under a plain reading of the

relevant statutes. As indicated below, the partial payment attempts were made during the reinstatement period under both the pre- and post-2016 versions of W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115.

b. SLS properly rejected 2015 partial payment during the reinstatement period as in place under the pre-2016 version of W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115.

The version of W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(b) in effect in 2015 stated that the reinstatement period, which must be included in the loan agreement, began "with the trustee notice of foreclosure and ending prior to foreclosure sale." Thus, SLS had the right to reject any payments the Stovers submitted during this reinstatement period under the plain language of W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115.

In this case, SLS properly rejected the Stovers' 2015 partial payment because such payment occurred during the reinstatement period. The Deed of Trust signed by the Stovers contains an acceleration clause which states that "[I]ender shall give notice to Borrower prior to acceleration following Borrower's breach of any covenant." (J.A. 68). The Deed of Trust further states that the notice will "inform the Borrower of the right to reinstate." (*Id.*) Therefore, the reinstatement period was included in the loan agreement as required by W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115. On May 14, 2015, Seneca Trustees sent a notice of foreclosure to the Stovers, invoking "the power given by said Deed of Trust to sell the above-described real estate." (J.A. 382). Since the reinstatement period in W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(b) as in effect in 2015 began "with the trustee notice of foreclosure," the reinstatement period commenced on May 14, 2015.

The Stovers submitted their first partial reinstatement payment on May 26, 2015, twelve days after the reinstatement period began. (J.A. 340). Respondents' check was for \$556.27, well below the total reinstatement amount of \$4,371.98. (*Id.*). the Stovers' check was thus a "partial amount received during the reinstatement period" under the 2015 application of W. Va. Code \$46A-2-115. For the foregoing reasons, SLS properly rejected the Stovers' 2015 partial reinstatement payment in compliance with the period set forth in W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(b) as

in effect at the time of the attempted partial payment. As such, SLS's Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment on Count II was improperly denied as SLS has met its burden under Rule 56 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure.

c. SLS's rejections of the 2017 partial payments were proper under the post-2016 version of W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115.

SLS was permitted to reject Respondents' 2017 partial reinstatement payments under the new reinstatement period set forth in W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115 following its 2016 amendment. The rule and its exception in subsection (c) remained intact after the 2016 amendment, but the reinstatement period set forth in subsection (b) changed. The reinstatement period became the period "after the last day allowed for cure of the consumer's default pursuant to section one hundred six, of this article and before the consumer reinstates the consumer loan or otherwise cures the default." W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(b)(3).

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