DO NOT REMOVE

FROM FILE

FILE COPY

## SPECIALIZED LOAN SERVICING LLC,

Defendant Below, Petitioner,

v.

No. 20-1025

## RONALD J. STOVER and PATTI A. STOVER,

Plaintiffs Below, Respondents.

### **RESPONDENTS' BRIEF**

Respondents, RONALD J. STOVER and PATTI A. STOVER, By Counsel:

Sarah K. Brown (State Bar ID No. 10845) Bren J. Pomponio (State Bar ID No. 7774) Daniel F. Hedges (State Bar ID No. 1660) Mountain State Justice, Inc. 1217 Quarrier Street Charleston, WV 23501 Telephone: (304) 344-3144 Facsimile: (304) 344-3145 sarah@msjlaw.org bren@msjlaw.org dan@msjlaw.org

#

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

#### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The West Virginia Consumer Credit and Protection Act ("WVCCPA" or the "Act") is a remedial statute enacted to protect consumers from unfair, illegal, and deceptive acts or practices. Among the Act's many protections is a requirement that all amounts paid to a creditor be credited upon receipt to payments due. <u>See</u> W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(c). At issue in this case is the unfair and illegal practice of rejecting payments from consumers trying to save their home from foreclosure. It is undisputed that Petitioner Specialized Loan Servicing LLC ("SLS"), the servicer of Respondents Ronald and Patti Stover's mortgage loan, returned three payments made by the Stovers rather than credit those payments to the amount due on their loan. Although the WVCCPA provides a narrow affirmative defense permitting the return of certain partial payments during the reinstatement period, Petitioner SLS may not avail itself of that defense because the Stovers' loan does not meet the narrow definition of a "consumer loan" as required by the unambiguous language of the defense. Because the circuit court properly applied this remedial statute, this Court should affirm its order granting judgment in favor of Respondents.

#### IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Oral argument is not necessary because the stipulated facts and narrow legal arguments at issue are fully presented in the briefs and the record on appeal. W. Va. R. App. P. 18(a)(4). Should the Court determine that oral argument would aid the Court in its decision-making process, Rule 19 argument is appropriate, given that this appeal presents a narrow question of law. W. Va. R. App. P. 19. In the event that Rule 19 argument is held, a memorandum decision is appropriate.

3

#### V. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

This Court reviews the circuit court's entry of summary judgment *de novo*. <u>See</u> Syl. Pt. 1, <u>Painter v. Peavy</u>, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). Summary judgment is proper when the moving party shows that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. <u>See id.</u> at 193, 758 (citing Rule 56 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure). The parties below stipulated to all relevant facts, leaving for determination a purely legal question. Therefore, the circuit court's determination of that legal issue is subject to *de novo* review by this Court. <u>See</u> Syl Pt. 1, <u>Appalachian Power Co. v. State Tax Dep't of West Virginia</u>, 195 W. Va. 573, 466 S.E.2d 424 (1995).

# B. SLS Violated West Virginia Code Section 46A-2-115(c) by Returning Respondents' Payments

1. Section 46A-2-115(c) is clear and unambiguous in limiting the reinstatement period defense to certain consumer loans.

This Court reviews *de novo* questions of statutory interpretation. <u>See, e.g., Meadows v.</u> <u>Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.</u>, 207 W. Va. 203, 212, 530 S.E.2d 676, 685 (1999). In deciding the meaning of a statute, this Court has explained that it "begins with the principle that judicial interpretation of a statute is warranted only if the statute is ambiguous. A statute which is clear and unambiguous should be applied by the courts and not construed or interpreted." Syl Pt. 3, <u>Meadows</u>, 207 W. Va. at 214, 530 S.E.2d at 687 (internal quotations and citations omitted). In considering whether a statute is unambiguous, and therefore does not require construction or interpretation, courts must consider the context of the dispute. <u>See W. Va. Highlands Conservancy, Inc. v. Huffman</u>, 588 F. Supp. 2d 678, 690 (N.D.W. Va. Jan. 14, 2009), aff'd 625 F.3d 159 (4th Cir. 2010) (citing <u>Robinson</u> <u>v. Shell Oil Co.</u>, 519 U.S. 337, 340 (1997)). "[C]ourts should consider 'the language itself, the specific context in which that language is used, and the broader context of the statute as a whole. The 'inquiry must cease if the statutory language is unambiguous and the statutory scheme is coherent and consistent." <u>Id.</u> If a statute is ambiguous, and therefore requires judicial interpretation, "legislative intention is the controlling factor; and the intention of the legislature is ascertained from the provisions of the statute by the applications of sound and well established cannons of construction." Syl Pt. 2, <u>Meadows</u>, 207 W. Va. at 206, 530 S.E.2d at 679. One such canon is that "significance and effect must, if possible, be given to every section, clause, word or part of the statute." <u>Id.</u>

The plain language of West Virginia Code section 46A-2-115(c) unambiguously requires that a creditor credit all amounts received toward payments due on a consumer credit sale or consumer loan. "All amounts paid to a creditor arising out of any consumer credit sale or consumer loan shall be credited upon receipt against payments due." W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(c) (2003) & (2016).<sup>1</sup> Federal and state courts in West Virginia have routinely upheld claims that creditors violate this section of the WVCCPA by refusing or returning payments without finding the statute ambiguous or in need of interpretation. <u>See, e.g., Simpson v. Ocwen Loan Servicing</u>, No. 2:19-cv-29, <u>available at</u> 2020 WL 1430470 (N.D.W. Va. March 23, 2020); <u>Ballenger v. Nat'l</u> <u>City Mortg., Inc.</u>, No. 1:14-cv-81, <u>available at</u> 2015 WL 5062770, at \*14-15 (N.D.W. Va. Aug. 26, 2015) (refusing summary judgment on a claim for a violation of the statute when the creditor instructed that it would not accept partial payments after notice of default issued); <u>McNeely v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.</u>, No. 2:13-cv-25114, <u>available at</u> 2014 WL 7005598, \*8 (S.D.W. Va. Dec. 10, 2014) ("[A]llegations ... that a lender returned payments to a borrower

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The version of West Virginia Code section 46A-2-115 applicable when Petitioner SLS returned the Stovers' payment in 2015 was enacted in 2003. As discussed herein, the statute was amended in 2016, and the 2016 amendments apply to the payments Petitioner SLS returned to the Stovers in 2017.

would constitute a plausible claim under § 46A-2-115(c)."); Pannell v. Green Tree Servicing, LLC, Case No. 5:14-cv-14198, available at 2014 WL 3361984, at \*7 (S.D.W. Va. July 8, 2014) (refusing to dismiss claim when creditor alleged returned payment after reinstatement period expired); Coleman v. JP Morgan Chase, N.A., No. 3:14-cv-0183, available at 2014 WL 1871726, \*7 (S.D.W. Va. May 8, 2014) (refusing to dismiss claim despite creditor arguing it returned payment during reinstatement period); Petty v. Countrywide Home Loans, Inc., No. 3:12-cv-06677, available at 2013 WL 1837932, at \*13 (S.D.W. Va. May 1, 2013) ("Plaintiffs' allegations that Defendant instructed them not to make payments and, if they did, their payments would be returned, is sufficient to state a plausible claim under West Virginia Code § 46A-2-115."); Patrick v. PHH Mortg. Corp., 937 F. Supp. 2d 773, 783 (N.D.W. Va. March 27, 2013); Ranson v. Bank of America, N.A., No. 3:12-cv-5616, available at 2013 WL 1077093, \*9 (S.D.W. Va. March 14, 2013); Kesling v. Countrywide Home Loans, Inc., No. 2:09-cv-588, available at 2011 WL 227637, at \*3 (S.D.W. Va. Jan. 24, 2011) (describing the subsection as requiring "a lender of a consumer loan to credit any full or partial payments received from the borrower"); Duvall v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, No. 18-C-312 (Cir. Ct. Berkeley Co., W. Va. Nov. 30, 2020); Flagstar Bank, FSB v. Leintu, No. 15-C-320 (Cir. Ct. Berkeley Co., W. Va. Sept. 26, 2016); Kerns v. Fidelity & Deposit Co. of Md., No. 12-C-739 (Cir. Ct. Berkeley Co., W. Va. July 15, 2013).<sup>2</sup> Petitioner SLS undisputedly violated this provision of state law when it refused the Stovers' payments made to it to save their home from foreclosure.

The affirmative defense of which Petitioner seeks to avail itself, permitting return of payments in certain limited circumstances, is also unambiguous and requires no judicial interpretation. See Coleman, 2014 WL 1871726, at \*7 (holding that the two clauses following

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Respondents are simultaneously filing a motion for leave to file a supplemental appendix to provide the Court with these three unpublished circuit court opinions.

"provided" in the statute are considered defenses a creditor may raise). The first payment made by the Stovers and returned by Petitioner SLS was on June 4, 2015. (J.A. 205-06, 340.) In the version of the statute applicable in 2015, the affirmative defense provides that "partial amounts received <u>during the reinstatement period set forth in subsection (b) of this section</u> do not create an automatic duty to reinstate and may be returned by the creditor." W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(c)

(2003) (emphasis added).

Subsection (b) of section 46A-2-115 provides in its entirety:

A consumer loan secured by real property: (1) Originated by a bank or savings and loan association, or an affiliate, and not solicited by an unaffiliated broker; (2) held by a federal home loan bank, the federal national mortgage association, the federal home loan mortgage corporation, the government national mortgage association, the West Virginia housing development fund; or (3) insured or guaranteed by the farmers home administration, the veteran's administration, department of housing and urban development, which includes in the loan agreement a reinstatement period beginning with the trustee notice of foreclosure and ending prior to foreclosure sale, may, in addition to those authorized by this chapter, permit the recovery of the following actual reasonable reinstatement period expenses paid or owed to third parties: (i) Publication costs paid to the publisher of the notice; (ii) appraisal fee when required by the circumstances or by a regulatory authority and only after the loan has been referred to a trustee for foreclosure; (iii) title check and lienholder notification fee not to exceed two hundred dollars, as adjusted from time to time by the increase in the consumer price index for all consumers published by the United States Department of Labor; and (iv) certified mailing costs.

W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(b) (2003) (emphasis added).

The reinstatement period set forth in subsection (b), then, requires both that the loan be originated, held, or insured by the enumerated entities **and** also that the loan agreement include a reinstatement period running from the notice of trustee sale and ending prior to the trustee's foreclosure sale. See W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(b) (2003). It is unambiguous that the 2015 exception permitting the return of payments during the reinstatement period applies only to loans originated by the enumerated entities, as Judge Burnside concluded in applying the statute to the Stovers' claim: "To qualify for the exception stated in subsection (b)(3), the Defendant

[Petitioner SLS] must satisfy both criteria: (1) that the loan is insured or guaranteed by one of the designated entities, and (2) that it contains in the loan agreement a reinstatement period." (J.A. 469.) Petitioner SLS does not dispute that the loan is not originated, held, insured, or guaranteed by one of the enumerated entities. Accordingly, this limited defense is not available to Petitioner SLS for returning the Stovers' house payment in 2015.

The West Virginia Legislature amended section 46A-2-115 during the 2016 legislative session, with the changes becoming effective on June 8, 2016. Therefore, the amended version applies to the second and third payments returned by Petitioner SLS on March 17, 2017, and April 24, 2017. (J.A. 342.) The primary directive of subsection (c) is unchanged in the amended version: "All amounts paid to a creditor arising out of any consumer credit sale or consumer loan shall be credited upon receipt against payments due." W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(c) (2016). The language of the affirmative defense is slightly modified: "Provided, however, That partial amounts received during the period set forth in subdivision (3) subsection (b) of this section do not create an automatic duty to reinstate and may be returned by the creditor." Id. The 2016 amendments had additionally changed the structure of subsection (b), to specifically enumerate three subdivisions, and thus subsection (c) was simply revised to reference the period set forth in the newly enumerated applicable subdivision of the subsection (b).

The version of subsection (b) enacted in 2016 provides in its entirety:

(b) With respect to this subsection:

(1) The phrase "consumer loan" shall mean a consumer loan secured by real property: (A) Originated by a bank or savings and loan association, or an affiliate, not solicited by an unaffiliated broker; (B) held by a federal home loan bank, the federal National Mortgage Association, the federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, the Government National Mortgage Association, the West Virginia Housing Development Fund; or (C) insured or guaranteed by the Farmers Home Administration, the Veteran's Administration or the Department of Housing and Urban Development.

(2) Except as provided in subdivision (3) of this subsection, the agreements that evidence a consumer loan may permit the recovery of the following charges: (A) Costs of publication; (B) an appraisal fee; (C) all costs incidental to a title examination including professional fees, expenses incident to travel, and copies of real estate and tax records; (D) expenses incidental to notice made to lienholders and other parties and entities having an interest in the real property to be sold; (E) certified mailing costs; and (F) all fees and expenses incurred by a trustee incident to a pending trustee's sale of the real property securing the consumer loan.

(3) For purposes of the charges expressly authorized by this subsection, no charge may be assessed and collected from a consumer unless: (A) Each charge is reasonable in its amount; (B) each charge is actually incurred by or on behalf of the holder of the consumer loan; (C) each charge is actually incurred after the last day allowed for cure of the consumer's default pursuant to section one hundred six, of this article and before the consumer reinstates the consumer loan or otherwise cures the default; (D) the holder of the consumer loan and the consumer have agreed to cancel any pending trustee's sale or other foreclosure on the real property securing the consumer loan; and (E) in the case of an appraisal fee, no appraisal fee has been charged to the consumer within the preceding six months.

## W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(b) (2016).

The affirmative defense set forth in the version of section 46A-2-115(c) applicable in 2017 permits return of partial amounts received "during the period set forth in subdivision (3) subsection (b)," which is defined as "after the last day allowed for cure of the consumer's default pursuant to section one hundred six, of this article and before the consumer reinstates **the consumer loan** or otherwise cures the default." W. Va. Code § 46A-2-115(b)(3) (2016) (emphasis added). Subsection (b) of the 2016 amendment contains its own definition of consumer loan applicable to the entire subsection, which includes the requirement that the loan be originated, held, or insured by particular entities. Therefore, because the defined time period itself includes the requirement that the loan be a consumer loan, and consumer loan is particularly and narrowly defined in this

subjection, it is unambiguous that the statutory defense created by section 46A-2-115(c) for returning payments is only available to creditors collecting on loans meeting that narrower definition. Indeed, this was the conclusion Judge Burnside reached in applying the statute to the Stovers' claim for the 2017 returned payments:

The structure of the 2017 amendment to 46A-2-115 is similar to the pre-2017 version in that the 2017 version of subsection (c) states a general rule with specific exceptions and the reader is referred to subsection (b)(3) to understand the scope of the exception.

Although subsection (b)(3) was restructured in 2017, the practical effect is equivalent to the version operative in 2015. The special definition of "consumer loan" in the 2017 version of subsection (b) limits the term "consumer loan" by reference to (A) origination, (B) the holder, and (C) the insurer or guarantor. If the loan does not fall within that specialized definition, none of subsection (b)(3) can apply to that loan.

Subsection (c) does not have a specialized definition of "consumer loan" and so the general WVCPA definition of "consumer loan" would presumably apply to the issues governed by subsection (c). However, since subsection (b)(3) determines the scope of the exception we are bound by the definition of "consumer loan" specific to subsection (b). If the loan in question does not qualify as a "consumer loan" as defined in subsection (b)(1), this exception to the subsection (c) requirement to credit all payments does not apply.

(J.A. 472.) Therefore, Petitioner SLS violated the statute when it returned the Stovers' two

payments made in 2017 to avoid foreclosure.

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